FILE COPY

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The Circuit Court erred in ruling that a policyholder is entitled to first-party medical payments coverage where: (a) her insurer made payments to Medicare to reimburse it for the amount paid towards the insured's medical bills reducing those bills to zero, (b) the policyholder settled with the liability carrier for less than the available liability limits, (c) the insurer waived subrogation pursuant to the liability settlement, and (d) the coverage results in a windfall.
- 2. The Circuit Court erred in awarding attorney fees in the amount of \$34,026.75 where the fee award includes (a) block billing entries, (b) duplicative entries, (c) excessive time, and (d) an attorney fee award almost thirty times the compensatory damages award.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from an order entered by the Honorable Michael Lorensen, Judge of the Circuit Court of Berkeley County ("Circuit Court") on September 4, 2020, ordering the Petitioner, Auto Club Property & Casualty Insurance Company ("Petitioner" or "Auto Club"), to issue to the Respondent, Jessica A. Moser ("Respondent"), medical payments coverage in the amount of \$1,342.09, as well as attorney fees and costs in the amount of \$34,026.75 ("Order").

This Order followed a June 5, 2020, Order awarding partial summary judgment to the Respondent on Counts I and II of her Complaint for declaratory judgment and breach of contract, respectively ("SJ Order")² and another Order also dated September 4, 2020, granting Respondent's Motion for Award of Reasonable Attorney Fees ("Attorney Fee Award").³

¹ [App. at P001].

² [App. at P310-P316].

³ [App. at P443-P455]. Both the Attorney Fee Award and SJ Order were incorporated into the Order which also included Rule 54 language indicating that there is no just reason for delay. It is from these rulings that the Petitioner now appeals.

The underlying case arose out of a two-car motor vehicle accident, which occurred on October 17, 2017, and involved the Respondent who, at the time of the accident, was an insured driver under an automobile policy issued by Auto Club to Joshua Jandreau.⁴ The driver of the other vehicle, Jennifer Weaver, was determined to be at fault and had available liability insurance to compensate Respondent for her damages.⁵

Pursuant to the Auto Club policy, the Respondent had medical payments coverage with an available limit of five thousand dollars (\$5,000.00). As such, a first-party medical payments claim was opened by Auto Club while the Respondent pursued her liability claim against the at-fault tortfeasor. At all relevant times during the Respondent's post-accident medical treatment, Respondent was a Medicaid recipient.⁶

After paying at least one bill directly to a provider, by letter dated February 22, 2018, the Petitioner received a demand for reimbursement of a Medicaid lien in the amount of \$505.61 paid by Medicaid for physical therapy services rendered to the Respondent for the period of October 17, 2017, through January 29, 2018.⁷ Auto Club directly reimbursed Medicaid under the available medical payments coverage, and subsequently reimbursed Medicaid an additional amount of \$932.00 for subsequent physical therapy services provided to the Respondent by Rankin Physical Therapy.⁸

⁴ [App. at P002-P012, ¶¶ 3, 4; App. at P013-P028, ¶¶ 3, 4.]

⁵ See id.

⁶ [App. at P215].

⁷ [App. at P222-P223].

⁸ [App. at P225-P226].

On April 27, 2018, the Respondent, through counsel, requested that Auto Club issue medical payments policy proceeds directly to the Respondent in the amount of \$2,165.00, which was the original invoice from Rankin Physical Therapy for services rendered to Respondent.⁹ At that time, however, a portion of the Rankin Invoice had been written off in light of the Respondent's enrollment in Medicaid, and the remaining balance was reimbursed by Auto Club.¹⁰

Because the invoice showed that no balance was owed to the healthcare provider by the Respondent, Auto Club declined to issue medical payments benefits directly to the Respondent for the already-satisfied Rankin invoice:

Based on the documents submitted, our investigation finds no medical expenses have been incurred by your client as the bills submitted were paid by Medicaid and Auto Club Property-Casualty Insurance Company subsequently reimbursed Medica*Id*. Additionally, the bills you submitted indicate that no balance is owed. Therefore, we must deny your client's request for reimbursement of the medical bills submitted on April 27, 2018.¹¹

Dissatisfied at not being paid \$2,165.00 to whom she owed no one, the Respondent filed her Complaint against Auto Club on May 30, 2019, seeking declaratory judgment regarding the applicability of her automobile insurance policy with Auto Club (Count I), and asserting claims of breach of contract (Count II), bad faith (Count III), and an alleged violation of the West Virginia Unfair Trade Practices Act ("UTPA") (Count IV).¹²

⁹ [App. at P235-P237].

^{10 [}App. at P222-P228].

¹¹ [App. at P230-P231].

¹² [App. at P002-P012].

As of the date of filing her Complaint on May 30, 2019, the Respondent was never charged for, and never paid, any medical expenses related to the Rankin Invoice. ¹³ Instead, the Respondent sought to "pocket" the difference between the original Rankin Invoice and the amount accepted by Rankin as payment in full from Medicald. In sum, the Respondent sued claiming she was entitled to a windfall of \$2,165.00 pursuant to the medical payments provisions of the Auto Club policy.

On October 23, 2019, the Respondent entered a settlement agreement with the liability carrier for the at-fault driver totaling \$60,000.00 of the available \$100,000 liability limits. ¹⁴ In light of the settlement proceeds received by the Respondent from her settlement with the tortfeasor, Medicaid asserted a subsequent, additional lien in the amount of \$1,547.29. ¹⁵ Medicaid/Aetna ¹⁶ agreed to accept \$1,078.69 as full and final payment of the additional lien which "was paid... out of [Respondent's] bodily injury settlement proceeds" with the liability carrier. ¹⁷ Notably, Auto Club consented to the liability carrier and agreed to waive its right of subrogation for the medical payments coverage issued on behalf of the Respondent. ¹⁸ Nonetheless, the Respondent continued to pursue additional medical payments coverage from Auto Club.

This case involved limited discovery and although the Respondent carried the burden of proof, she designated no expert witnesses. Auto Club identified expert witness Rudy Martin as an

¹³ [App. at 236-237; see also App. P230-P231 (advising that "the bills submitted [by Respondent] were paid by Medicaid and Auto Club Property-Casualty Insurance Company subsequently reimbursed Medicaid" and that "the bills [Respondent] submitted indicate that no balance is owed")].

¹⁴ [App. at P239].

^{15 [}App. at P241-P245].

¹⁶ Aetna Better Health of West Virginia, a Medicaid Plan, retained the services of Equian to represent Aetna in connection with its rights of subrogation and recovery regarding medical claims paid on behalf of Plaintiff. [App. at P222-223].

¹⁷ [App. at P213-P217].

¹⁸ [App. at P239].

expert witness.¹⁹ Thereafter, the Respondent filed a motion in limine to strike Mr. Martin as an expert witness,²⁰ which motion was fully briefed but never ruled upon by the Circuit Court before the submission of the parties' cross-motions for summary judgment.

On March 13, 2020, the Respondent moved for partial summary judgment on Counts I and II of the Complaint for declaratory judgment and breach of contract, respectively.²¹ On March 27, 2020, Auto Club timely moved for summary judgment on all counts in the Complaint.²² The respective cross-motions for summary judgment were fully briefed by all parties and oral argument was held on May 13, 2020.²³

In its Order entered June 5, 2020, the Circuit Court granted partial summary judgment in favor of the Respondent on Counts I and II of the Complaint for declaratory judgment and breach of contract, respectively, and denied the Petitioner's cross-motion for summary judgment.²⁴

The Circuit Court ordered Auto Club to issue medical payments coverage to the Respondent in the amount of the \$2,165.00 Rankin Invoice, less any amounts Auto Club could show that it had actually paid on the specific invoice.²⁵ The Order also invited the Respondent to submit a motion for attorney fees and invited the Petitioner to request Rule 54(b) language so that the Order could be reviewed before resolution of the remaining counts in the Complaint.²⁶

¹⁹ [App. at P029-038].

²⁰ [App. at P039-P041].

²¹ [App. at P042-P091].

²² [App. at P092-P183].

²³ [App. at P308].

²⁴ [App. at P310-P316].

²⁵ See id.

²⁶ See id.

On July 7, 2020, an Agreed Order Granting Defendant Auto Club's Motion for Credit for Rankin Invoice Payments was entered, concluding that Auto Club was entitled to a credit of \$822.91 to be applied to the Rankin Invoice, thereby reducing the amount to be paid by Auto Club to the Respondent to \$1,342.09.²⁷

Thereafter, the parties fully briefed the Respondent's motion for attorney fees, and on September 4, 2020, the Circuit Court entered its Attorney Fee Award, granting judgment to the Respondent and ordering Auto Club to pay the Respondent attorney fees and costs in the amount of \$34,026.75 or almost thirty times the compensatory damages award.²⁸

Also, on September 4, 2020, the Circuit Court entered its Judgment, incorporating the prior SJ and Attorney Fees Orders, and directing Auto Club to pay the Respondent the sum of \$1,342.09 plus attorney fees and costs in the amount of \$34,026.75 ("Circuit Court Order").²⁹

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court erred in ruling that a policyholder is entitled to first-party medical payments coverage where: (a) her insurer made payments to Medicare to reimburse it for the amount paid towards the insured's medical bills reducing those bills to zero, (b) the policyholder settled with the liability carrier for less than the available liability limits, (c) the insurer waived subrogation pursuant to the liability settlement, and (d) the coverage results in a windfall.

²⁷ [App. at P354-P355].

²⁸ [App. at P443-P455].

²⁹ [App. at P456]. The Order included Rule 54 language and concluded that there was no just reason for delay.

The Circuit Court also erred in awarding attorney fees in the amount of \$34,026.75 where the fee award includes (a) block billing entries, (b) duplicative entries, (c) excessive time, and (d) an attorney fee award almost thirty times the compensatory damages award.

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

This case is appropriate for Rule 20 argument as one presenting issues of first impression.³⁰

V. ARGUMENT

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Because the Circuit Court should have denied partial summary judgment to the Respondent as a matter of law, and granted summary judgment in favor of the Respondent, the appropriate standard of review in this case relative to those issues is *de novo*.³¹

Similarly, the legal issue of whether a first-party insured can pocket medical payments coverage in excess of the amount actually due and owing – particularly when the insured has settled with the tortfeasor for less than the available liability limits – is subject to *de novo* review.³²

Finally, review of the circuit court's decision to award attorney fees is for an abuse of discretion.³³

 $^{^{30}}$ R.A.P. 20(a)(1).

³¹ Syl. pt. 1, Findley v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Co., 213 W. Va. 80, 576 S.E.2d 807 (2002) ("This Court reviews de novo the denial of a motion for summary judgment, where such a ruling is properly reviewable by this Court.").

³² Syl. pt. 1, Chrystal R.M. v. Charlie A.L., 194 W. Va. 138, 459 S.E.2d 415 (1995) ("Where the issue on an appeal from the circuit court is clearly a question of law or involving an interpretation of a statute, we apply a de novo standard of review."); see also Riggs v. West Virginia University Hospitals, Inc., 221 W. Va. 646, 653, 656 S.E.2d 91, 98 (2007) ("As the issue raised directly challenges the trial court's application of the MPLA's non-economic damages cap to the jury verdict, our review is de novo.").

³³ Karpacs-Brown v. Murthy, 224 W. Va. 516, 526, 686 S.E.2d 746, 756 (2009).

B. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN RULING THAT A POLICYHOLDER IS ENTITLED TO COVERAGE FOR FIRST-PARTY MEDICAL PAYMENTS COVERAGE WHERE: (A) HER INSURER MADE PAYMENTS TO MEDICARE TO REIMBURSE IT FOR THE AMOUNT PAID TOWARDS THE INSURED'S MEDICAL BILLS REDUCING THOSE BILLS TO ZERO, (B) THE POLICYHOLDER SETTLED WITH THE LIABILITY CARRIER FOR LESS THAN THE AVAILABLE LIABILITY LIMITS, (C) THE INSURER WAIVED SUBROGATION PURSUANT TO THE LIABILITY SETTLEMENT, AND (D) THE COVERAGE RESULTS IN A WINDFALL.

The Circuit Court erred in holding that the Respondent is entitled to pocket medical payments coverage for medical expenses that were paid by other entities, and for which she will never make any out-of-pocket payments, particularly where the Respondent accepted a liability settlement from the tortfeasor³⁴ well below the available liability limits, and Auto Club did not pursue its right of subrogation to recoup the medical payments benefits expended on behalf of the Respondent. In so holding, the Circuit Court's ruling thwarts the purpose of medical payments coverage, improperly relied upon this Court's holding in *Kenney v. Liston*,³⁵ and impermissibly expands the manner in which medical payments coverage is pa*Id*.

1. The Partial Summary Judgment Order Improperly Overlooked the Purpose and Scope of First-Party Medical Payments Coverage.

The medical payments coverage at issue in the underlying case has a policy limit of \$5,000.00.³⁶ At issue were the Respondent's attempts to directly recover under her medical payments coverage the difference between the original Rankin Invoice in the amount of \$2,165.00, and the amount paid by Medicaid and accepted by Rankin as payment in full. In awarding partial summary judgment to the Respondent on Counts I and Counts II of the Complaint, the Circuit Court conflated first- and third-party coverages.

³⁴ [App. at P239].

^{35 167} W. Va. 779, 280 S.E.2nd 584 (1991).

³⁶ [App. at P002-012, ¶ 13; App. at P013-P028, ¶ 13].

West Virginia law is clear that medical payments coverage "is not an additional layer of underinsured coverage," but rather "serves a distinctly different purpose" by "permit[ting] the insured to gain speedy reimbursement for medical expenses incurred as a result of a collision without regard to the insured's fault."³⁷ In fact, the very purpose of medical payments coverage is to protect the insured from having to pay out-of-pocket medical expenses.³⁸

This is precisely why medical payments coverage has been characterized as "special provision," of which its "purpose... is to provide prompt and adequate medical care when injury is incurred," . . . "similar to a health insurance policy covering the injured person." Medical payments coverage has been described as a shield for a first-party insured, in that its "purpose... is essentially to 'shield the insured' from having eventually to pay out-of-pocket expenses." 40

For example, in Newbury v. State Farm Fire & Casualty Insurance Co., 41 the Supreme Court of Montana held that the insured was not entitled to medical payment benefits in excess of his medical expenses. Specifically, the court provided that the insured's expectations under the policy "were not objectively reasonable" because "while it was reasonable for [the insured] to expect that his [insurance] policies would pay his medical expenses . . . once the State Fund had paid all it was

³⁷ State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Schatken, 230 W. Va. 201, 207, 737 S.E.2d 229, 235 (2012) (internal quotation omitted) (quoting Ferrell v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co., 217 W. Va. 243, 249, 617 S.E.2d 790, 796 (2005)).

³⁸ See, e.g., Am. Family Ins. Grp. v. Cleveland, 356 Ill. App. 3d 945, 949–950, 827 N.E.2d 490, 494 (Ill. App. Ct. 2005).

³⁹ *Id*.

⁴⁰ Schmalfeldt v. N. Pointe Ins. Co., 252 Mich. App. 556, 564, 652 N.W.2d 683, 687 (Mich. Ct. App. 2002); see also McCauley v. Farmers Ins. Co., No. CJ-2006-680, 2009 WL 2494755, at ¶ 10 (Okla. Dist. Ct. July 30, 2009) ("[T]he purpose of the medpay insurance contracts at issue is to pay an insured's reasonable medical expenses to protect the insured from sustaining any out-of-pocket expenses.").

⁴¹ 343 Mont. 279, 287-90, 184 P.3d 1021, 1027-28 (2008).

required to pay, it was not reasonable for [the insured] to expect to receive funds in excess of his medical expenses." The court concluded, "What [the insured] paid valuable consideration for in this case was to have his medical expenses paid and it is undisputed that his medical expenses were pald. To allow [the insured] to receive in excess of the total amount of his medical expenses would result in a windfall to [him]." 43

Like the insured in *Newbury*, it is indisputable that the Respondent's medical expenses were paid such that there was a zero balance due and owing. The Rankin Invoice was paid adjusted and by Medicaid, and Medicaid was subsequently reimbursed by Auto Club.⁴⁴ Because her medical bills were paid, the Respondent received the benefit due under the medical payments provision of the policy. Just as the *Newbury* court explained, "[t]o allow [the insured] to receive in excess of the total amount of [her] medical expenses would result in a windfall."

Accordingly, because the Respondent's medical expenses were paid, and she thus received the benefit for which she contracted under the policy, the Circuit Court erred in holding that the Respondent was entitled to pocket the difference between the original Rankin Invoice and the amount accepted by the provider as payment in full from Medicaid.

2. The Circuit Court Erred in Concluding that the Respondent "Incurred" Expenses for Medical Services Under the Medical Payment Coverage Provision of the Policy.

The Circuit Court's SJ Order concluding that the Respondent "incurred" medical expenses in an amount equal to the difference between the original Rankin Invoice and the amount

⁴² *Id.* at 289-90, 184 P.3d at 1028 (emphasis added).

⁴³ *Id.* at 290, 184 P.3d at 1029.

^{44 [}App. at P228-P231].

plaid by Medicaid thereby reducing the Ranking Invoice to reflect a zero balance owed - and of which no portion was ever paid by the Respondent - was counterintuitive and plainly in error.

The relevant portion of the policy provides:

Subject to the Definitions, Exclusions, Conditions and Limits of Liability of this policy, *we* will pay reasonable *medical expenses* incurred for necessary medical and funeral services because of *bodily injury*:

- 1. caused by an accident; and
- 2. sustained by an *insured person*.

We will pay only those *medical expenses* necessary for services furnished within 3 years from the date of accident. *We* may request mental and physical exams to determine whether *medical expenses* incurred are reasonable or medical treatment is necessary.⁴⁵

The word "incurred" is not defined in the policy; accordingly, it must "be given its plain, ordinary meaning." As this Court has previously held, "[w]here the provisions of an insurance policy contract are clear and unambiguous they are not subject to judicial construction or interpretation, but full effect will be given to the plain meaning intended." In contrast, terms in an insurance policy should not be interpreted "in a strained or philosophical sense."

In Paragraph 28 of the Complaint, it was alleged that "incurred" is defined in BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY as "[t]o become liable or subject to." Although similar, the definition of "incur" provided in the most current edition of BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY is "[t]o suffer or bring

⁴⁵ [App. at P164 (emphasis in original)].

⁴⁶ See Syl. pt. 1, Soliva v. Shand, Morahan & Co., 176 W. Va. 430, 345 S.E.2d 33 (1986), rejected on other grounds by Nat'l Mut. Ins. Co. v. McMahon & Sons, Inc., 177 W. Va. 734, 356 S.E.2d 488 (1987).

⁴⁷ Syl. pt. 1, Christopher v. U.S. Life Ins. Co., 145 W. Va. 707, 116 S.E.2d 864 (1960).

⁴⁸ Cherrington v. Erie Ins. Prop. and Cas. Co., 231 W.Va. 470, 491, 745 S.E.2d 508, 529 (2013) (internal quotation and citation omitted).

⁴⁹ [App. P002-P012, ¶ 28].

on oneself (a liability or expense)."⁵⁰ Regardless of which definition is considered, the Rankin Invoice produced by the Respondent in her demand to directly pocket medical payments coverage reflected medical expenses that were either written off as a result of Respondent's Medicaid enrollment, or paid by Medicaid, and Medicaid was subsequently directly reimbursed by Auto Club⁵¹ and therefore, not "incurred" by the Respondent.

In Atkins v. Great Am. Ins. Co., 52 the court addressed the issue of what constitutes "incurred" within the meaning of the medical payments provision of an automobile liability policy. In Atkins, the insured sought medical payments coverage for dental services not yet performed but anticipated. Rejecting the insured's argument for coverage, the court noted:

"As used in the policy in suit the word 'incurred' emphasizes the idea of liability and the definition of 'incur' is: 'To have liabilities (or a liability) thrust upon one by act or operation of law'; a thing for which there exists no obligation to pay, either express or implied, cannot in law constitute an 'incurred expense'; a debt or expense has been incurred only when liability attaches. ..."⁵³

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