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

Further, Auto Club's excess clause, while inapplicable to Moser's claim, gives express consideration to the payment of medical expenses by other insurance "programs." (App. 68). In this regard, Auto Club's proposed definition of the term "incurred" renders its own excess clause meaningless.

# 2. Medical Expenses Are "Incurred" Despite Collateral Payments.

As we discussed hereinbelow, numerous courts have held that claimants have "incurred" expenses within the scope of medical payments provisions, despite the fact that the expenses were paid or payable by health insurers, including governmental insurers such as Medicaid, Medicare, or military insurance programs. In *Stout*, the Supreme Court of Minnesota addressed whether or not the claimant's loss was equal to the amount originally billed or the post-discount balance after payment by the Department of Human Services in the form of Medicaid and MinnesotaCare. 645 N.W.2d at 108, 109-110. The court in *Stout* held that the claimant was entitled to the payment of gross amount of the bill under the medical payments coverage, and reasoned as follows:

A reduction in the amount billed, whether obtained pursuant to a settlement agreement or a health insurer's fee schedule, does not modify the amount of medical expense incurred.

*Id.*, at 113. The *Stout* Court further concluded that the medical expense incurred by Stout is the full amount reflected on his medical bills, and not the amount that was paid in satisfaction of those bills as the result of collateral transactions involving his health insurer. *Id.*, at 113 (citing *Collins*, 271 Minn. 239, 244-245, 135 N.W.2d 503, 507 (1965)).

In the same vein as *Stout*, a California Court of Appeals in *Holmes v California State Automobile Ass'n*, 185 Cal.Rptr. 521, 523, 135 Cal.App.3d 635, 637 (1982), addressed whether or not the claimant had "incurred" any medical expenses and thus whether she was entitled to recover them under the medical payments coverage provisions, despite the fact that Medicare had paid most of those expenses. The court in *Holmes* held as follows:

When a legal obligation to pay was created upon the rendition of services, the Medicare agreement became applicable and the hospital was bound by its commitment "not to charge," i.e., not to enforce against the patient liability for the costs incurred by the

patient. We conclude that respondent was liable under the terms of the policy; it was not proper to grant summary judgment dismissing the appellant's complaint.

*Id.*, at 524, 639.

In reaching its holding, the court in *Holmes* further noted that "[o]ther state courts have similarly interpreted the term 'incurred' in the context of insurance contracts." *Id.* (citing Black v. American Bankers Insurance Company, 478 S.W.2d 434, 438 (Tex. 1972); Niles v. American Bankers Ins. Co., 229 So.2d 435, 438 (La.Ct. 3d Cir.), cert. denied, 255 La. 479, 231 So.2d 394 (La. 1970); Dunbar v. Security Life & Accident Ins. Co., 439 S.W.2d 892 (Civ. App. Tex. 1969)).

Likewise, in *Hollister v. Government Employees Ins. Co*, 192 Neb. 687, 688, 224 N.W.2d 164, 168 (1974), the claimant was an active duty member of the United States Army and was entitled to have his medical expenses incurred in non-government hospitals paid by the United States. The Supreme Court of Nebraska held in *Hollister* that the claimant "incurred" the medical expenses previously paid by the United States Army, and reasoned as follows:

The hospital services were furnished to plaintiffs and accepted by them with the knowledge that a charge would be made for them. The fact that as a part of their renumeration for services rendered to the United States the government would pay for the hospital expense does not alter the fact that [the insured] was himself primarily liable for the expense and would have had to pay it if the government did not.

*Id.*, at 689, 165.

In Samsel v. Allstate Ins. Co., 204 Ariz. 1, 11, 59 P.3d 281, 291 (2002), the Supreme Court of Arizona similarly held that medical expenses were "actually incurred" by the claimant within the meaning of medical payments coverage, despite the fact that those expenses were paid by the insured's HMO and a statute immunized the HMO enrollees from legal liability for covered expenses. The Court in Samsel reasoned that if Allstate "had intended to limit [the insured's]

coverage to expenses for which she had actually become directly legally liable or even those she had actually paid, it could have so stated in the policy," but Allstate provided no evidence of such intention. *Id.*; see also Golchin v. Lib. Mut. Ins. Co., 466 Mass. 156, 157, 993 N.E.2d 684, 686 (2013) ("[W]e conclude that [the insured] is entitled to the MedPay benefits provided by her auto policy, notwithstanding that the medical expenses at issue were covered by and paid under a separate policy of health insurance.").

# C. The Partial Summary Judgment Order is Consistent with the General Purpose and Scope of Medical Payments Coverage: The Speedy Reimbursement of Medical Expenses.

Auto Club's assertion that Judge Lorensen's Order Granting Plaintiff Moser Partial Summary Judgment ("Order") conflated first party and third-party coverages and thwarted the purpose of medical payments coverage is without merit. (Pet'r Br., p. 8). To the contrary, the Order properly considered the first-party aspect of medical payments coverage, and its result is consistent with the general purpose and scope of first-party medical payments coverage.

To discern the purpose of first-party medical payments coverage, this Court need look no further than its own opinion in *Ferrell v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co.*, 217 W.Va. 243, 249, 617 S.E.2d 790, 796 (2005), wherein this Court stated that such coverage "permits the insured to gain *speedy* reimbursement for medical expenses incurred as a result of a collision without regard to the insured's fault." (emphasis added). In this case, Auto Club improperly adjusted Moser's *primary* Medical Payments Coverage as *excess* coverage by refusing to pay the Rankin Physical Therapy bill previously paid by Medicaid. (App. 86, 312, 430-432)).

Auto Club's improper adjustment of Moser's claim on an excess basis is actually in direct contravention of the goal of the speedy reimbursement for medical expenses incurred by automobile collision victims. In *Stout*, the Minnesota Supreme Court noted that "[b]y holding that

[the insured] is entitled to the full amount reflected on his medical bills, we remove the incentive for no-fault insurers to delay the payment of meritorious claims in the hope that the injured person's health insurer will step in and pay his or her medical bills at a discounted rate." 4 645 N.W.2d 108, 113 (Minn. 2002).

In arguing that medical payments coverage is designed to "shield" the insured from the "eventual" payment of out-of-pocket expenses, Auto Club's heavy reliance upon the Supreme Court of Montana's opinion in *Newbury v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Ins. Co.*, 343 Mont. 279, 184 P.3d 1021 (2008), is misguided. As noted above, the insured in *Newbury* sought medical payments coverage for amounts previously paid by workers' compensation, notwithstanding the existence of a clear exclusion of such coverage. *Id.*, at 281, 1023.

Auto Club also overlooks that the very same Supreme Court of Montana, in *Winter*, distinguished its prior holdings which prohibited double recovery in both *Newbury* and *Conway v*. *Benefits Health System*, 369 Mont. 309, 297 P.3d 1200 (2013). *See Winter v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 375 Mont. 351, 357, 328 P.3d 665, 670 (2014). In *Winter*, the Supreme Court of Montana was confronted with the same general issue currently before this Court: whether or not the medical payments coverage insurer was required to pay plaintiff's medical expenses which had previously been paid by plaintiff's health insurer. *Id.*, at 355, 669.

The court in *Winter* distinguished its prior decisions in *Newbury* and *Conway* by noting that State Farm policy at issue in *Winter* contained "no double recovery exclusion or limitation," while both of the insureds in *Newbury* and *Conway* "sought to recover excess sums despite the fact that *the insurance policy clearly did not provide a mechanism for such recovery.*" *Id.*, at 360, 362, 672-673. (original emphasis). The court in *Winter* further noted that the insured in *Newbury* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The court in *Stout* further stated that its holding effectuates the statutory purpose of ensuring *prompt* payment of benefits to those injured in automobile accidents. *Id.* 

"sought a double payment by rendering an express exclusion unenforceable." *Id.* The court in *Winter* stated that:

"Where plaintiff has an uncoordinated no-fault insurance contract with defendant that provides no limitation on plaintiff's right to recover from defendant in the context of duplicate insurance coverage [the defendant does not have] the right to refuse payment to plaintiff where plaintiff's injuries fall within the coverage of her policy with defendant."

*Id.*, at 364, 675 (quoting *Shanafelt v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 217 Mich.App. 625, 643, 552 N.W.2d 671, 678 (1996)). Like the defendant in *Winter*, Auto Club's uncoordinated, primary medical payments policy contained no specific limitation or offset language on which it may reasonably rely, thereby permitting a double recovery through the plain policy language. (App. 67-68).

# D. The Payment of the Rankin Physical Therapy Bill Would Not Result in a "Windfall."

Auto Club asserts that allowing Moser to receive full payment of the Rankin Physical Therapy bill would result in a "windfall" recovery. However, the two cases primarily relied upon by Auto Club in support of this proposition, *Newbury* and *Bowers*, are easily distinguished as noted above.

Moreover, where a medical payments policy (such as Auto Club's) "does not contain nonduplication provision or set-off provision, courts and commentators conclude that a double recovery is permissible." *Golchin v. Lib. Mut. Ins. Co.*, 466 Mass. 156, 166, 993 N.E.2d 684, 686 (2013) (quoting 6 J.E. Thomas & C. J. Robinette, *New Appleman on Insurance Law* §64.04[2], at 64-57 (2012)). Like all insurers, Auto Club is bound by the provisions of its own policy, and if it desired to prevent double recoveries for all insureds, it should have placed appropriate language in the policy. *Ferrell v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co.*, 217 W.Va. 243, 247, 617 S.E.2d 790, 794 (2005).

In holding that the claimant "incurred" medical expenses previously paid by her HMO, the Arizona Supreme Court in *Samsel v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, soundly rejected the same double recovery/windfall argument advanced by Auto Club herein, explaining as follows:

[W]e see no windfall when insureds who paid for a separate coverage collect just what they have paid for. Recovery of expenses from both medical payments coverage and other sources has long been both recognized and accepted in Arizona and elsewhere.

204 Ariz. at 10, 59 P.3d at 290. The *Samsel* court further noted that the "tendency has been to allow double recovery where collection of the first benefits has been from a completely different source, such as a hospitalization policy or Medicare." *Id.* (quoting 8A *Appleman on Insurance Law & Practice* §4902.7 (1997)).

Excess medical payments clause are actually "designed to prevent an insured from receiving a double recovery or windfall." *Scheafer v. Safeco Ins. Co.*, 374 Mont. 278, 288, 320 P.3d 967, 973, n.2 (2014) (citing *Nat. Cas. Co. v. American Bankers Ins. Co.*, 304 Mont. 163, 19 P.3d 223 (2001)). It is abundantly clear that Auto Club, in an attempt to prevent Moser from receiving payment in full of the Rankin bill allowed under her primary coverage, inappropriately positioned itself as an excess insurer on a primary policy.

# E. The Circuit Court Did Not Err in Considering the Doctrine of Reasonable Expectations.

Auto Club asserts that the Circuit Court erred in basing its holding, in part, on the conclusion that Moser had a reasonable expectation that her Medical Payments Coverage was primary and that Defendant Auto Club owed her the full amount of the Rankin Physical Therapy bill. (Pet'r Br., pp. 17-18; App. 314).

In support of its argument, Auto Club claims that "at no point" did it contend through its actions that the coverage was "excess" as opposed to "primary." (Pet'r Br., p. 17). However, the

record is crystal clear that Auto Club inappropriately positioned itself in Moser' claim as an excess medical payments insurer by refusing to pay the full amount of the Rankin bill.

Moser asserts that the provisions of the Auto Club Medical Payments Coverage policy, including the term "incurred," are clear and unambiguous, and thus are not subject to judicial construction or interpretation. *Boggs v. Camden-Clark Mem. Hosp. Corp.*, 225 W.Va. 300, 305, 693 S.E.2d 53, 58 (2010). *At worst* for Moser, however, the term "incurred" as it is used in the subject Auto Club policy is ambiguous, which is defined as language which is "reasonably susceptible of two different meanings," or language "of such doubtful meaning that reasonable minds might be uncertain or disagree to its meaning." Syl. Pt. 1, *Shamblin v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co.*, 175 W.Va. 337, 332 S.E.2d 639 (1985).

Should this Court determine that an ambiguity exists, certain rules of construction will be implemented. First, any ambiguity in the policy is to be construed liberally in favor of the insured, as the policy was prepared by the insurer. *Horace Mann Ins. Co. v. Leeber*, 180 W.Va. 375, 378, 376 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1988). Additionally, ambiguous terms in insurance contracts are to be strictly construed against the insurer and in favor of the insured. Syl. Pt. 4, *National Mut. Ins. Co. v. McMahon & Sons, Inc.*, 177 W.Va. 734, 356 S.E.2d 488 (1987) (overruled on other grounds by *Potesta v. United States Fid. & Guar. Co.*, 202 W.Va. 308, 504 S.E.2d 135 (1998)).

Additionally, in the event that this Court determines that an ambiguity exists, this Court could certainly apply the well-settled doctrine of reasonable expectations used by the Circuit Court below. The reasonable expectation doctrine provides that the "objectively reasonable expectations of applicants and intended beneficiaries regarding the terms of insurance contracts will be honored even though painstaking study of policy provisions would have negated those expectations." *Nat'l Mut.*, at Syl. Pt. 8.

Finally, it should be noted that while the Circuit Court considered the doctrine of reasonable expectations, the court's entire holding did not rest upon such findings. (App. 310-316). While the Circuit Court did note that Moser had a "reasonable expectation that her coverage was primary," the court had previously and correctly concluded that the Auto Club policy "makes it *clear* that the coverage is primary." (App. 314) (emphasis added). In this regard, the Circuit Court's application of the reasonable expectations doctrine may be considered superfluous. In addition, any ambiguity would be construed liberally in favor of Moser. *Horace Mann v. Leeber*, 180 W.Va. 375, 378, 376 S.E.2d 581, 584. "[T]his Court will disregard and regard as harmless any error, defect, or irregularity in the proceedings in the trial court which does not affect the substantial rights of the parties." Syl. Pt. 2, *Boggs v. Settle*, 150 W.Va. 330, 145 S.E.2d 446 (1965).

# F. The Circuit Court Did Not Err in Holding that Auto Club Should <u>Not</u> Have Made Payments to Medicaid.

The Circuit Court correctly held that under the clear terms of the policy, Auto Club should not have made payments to Equian, the subrogation recovery company hired by Medicaid, prior to any reimbursement to Moser. (App. 313). The Court correctly noted that Auto Club had been informed by Equian that Auto Club's coverage was primary, and that Equian, who was not a party to the contract, did not "incur" any medical expenses because of bodily injuries in a covered automobile. (App. 313).

Additionally, W.Va. Code §9-5-11(d)(4) specifically exempts from subrogation any recovery of less than \$20,000.00. Auto Club's reimbursement to Equian in March and May, 2018, were made long before it could be properly determined whether or not Moser's overall recovery would meet or exceed the threshold amount of \$20,000.00. (App. 330, 333). Equian did not demand immediate payment from Auto Club, but instead directed Auto Club to remit payment "at the conclusion of this matter." (App. 131, 134). Instead of waiting until Moser's injury case was

concluded over a year later, Auto Club ignored Equian's instructions and made premature payment.

It is well settled that this Court may disregard and regard as harmless any error, defect, or irregularity in the trial Court's proceedings which does not affect the substantial rights of the parties. Syl. Pt. 2, *Boggs v. Settle*, 150 W.Va. 330, 145 S.E.2d 446 (1965). As the Circuit Court granted Auto Club a credit for the total amount it paid to Equian, any error by the Court in stating that Auto Club should not have paid Equian was harmless and should be disregarded. (App. 354-355).

## G. The Circuit Court Did Not Disregard the Opinions of Auto Club's Expert.

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